## UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

# INSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURES AND FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT INFLOWS TO OIL PRODUCING COUNTRIES:

**EVIDENCE FROM AFRICA** 

PETER NELSON ARMAH

NOBIS

#### UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

# INSTITUTIONAL STRUCTURES AND FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT INFLOWS TO OIL PRODUCING COUNTRIES:

EVIDENCE FROM AFRICA

BY

PETER NELSON ARMAH

Dissertation submitted to the Institute of Oil and Gas Studies of the Faculty of Social Sciences, College of Humanities and Legal Studies, University of Cape Coast, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of Master of Business Administration degree in Oil and Gas Management

JANUARY 2020

## **DECLARATION**

## **Candidate's Declaration**

I hereby declare that this dissertation is the result of my own original research and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Candidate's signature Date	· • • • •
Name: Peter Nelson Armah	
Supervisor's Declaration	
I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the dissertation	was
supervised in accordance with the guidelines on supervision of disserta	ıtion
laid down by the University of Cape Coast	
Supervisor's Signature: Date:	
Name: Dr. Otuo Serebour Agyemang	

#### **ABSTRACT**

In recent times, there has been a decline of investment in oil producing countries worldwide (OPEC, 2017). Due to the fact that direct investment in oil production activities in most African countries is dominated by foreign entities, there are doubts as to the future of foreign direct investment in oil producing countries in Africa (Kurul & Yalta, 2017). Indeed a number of studies have examined the relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct investment but have not focused on the context of oil producing countries where direct investment in oil production activities is dominated by foreign firms. Thus by focusing on oil producing counties in Africa, this study examined the relationship between institutional structures and FDI. By employing the General method of moment estimation technique, the study found that institutional structures are relevant to attracting FDI to oil producing countries in Africa. This study recommends that oil producing economies should continue to institute economic policies that enhances or promote institutional quality.

NOBIS

## **KEY WORDS**

Africa

Foreign Direct Investment

General Method of Moments

**Institutional Structures** 



## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to express my profound gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Otuo Serebour Agyemang of the Department of Finance in the University of Cape Coast, for his professional guidance, advice and motivation that has guided me through this work. I am very grateful. I wish to further thank my family for their support. Not forgetting my wife and children who stood by me all these years.



# **DEDICATION**

To My Wife and Children



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Content	Page
DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
KEY WORDS	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
DEDICATION	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF ACRONYMS	xi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Objectives	4
Research Hypotheses	5
Significance of the Study	5
Definition of Terms	6
Foreign Direct Investment	6
Institutional Structures NOBIS	6
Organization of the study	6
Chapter Summary	7
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Introduction	8
Theoretical Review	8
Eclectic Paradigm Theory	8

# © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

Overview of Foreign direct investment	9
The Importance of FDI for Oil- Producing Countries	11
Empirical Review	13
Voice and accountability and FDI Inflows	13
Regulatory Quality and FDI	15
Government Effectiveness and FDI	16
Corruption and FDI	18
Political Stability and FDI	19
Rule of Law and FDI	21
Chapter Summary	23
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODS	
Introduction	24
Research Design	25
Research Approach	25
Data Collection Procedures	26
Model Specification	27
Data Processing and Analysis	28
Measurement of Variables	29
Chapter Summary NOBIS	32
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Introduction	33
Descriptive Statistics	33
Correlation Analysis	36
Regression results on the relationship between institutional structures and	
foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa	37

# © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

Voice and Accountability and FDI inflows	39
Regulatory Quality and FDI inflows	40
Government Effectiveness and FDI inflows	41
Control of Corruption and FDI inflows	42
Political Stability and FDI inflows	44
Rule of Law and FDI Inflows	44
Results of the control variables for the models assessing the effects	
institutional structures and foreign direct investment of oil producing coun	ntries
in African	46
Diagnostics on the models assessing the effects of institutional structures	on
foreign direct investment in oil producing countries in Africa	47
Chapter Summary	48
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND	
RECOMMENDATIONS	
Introduction	49
Summary of the Research	49
Summary of Findings	50
Conclusion	52
Recommendations NOBIS	53
Suggestions for Future Research	54
REFERENCES	55

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Description of Variables and Source of Data	31
2	Descriptive Statistics of the Variables employed in the study	33
3	Correlation Matrix	36
4	Relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct	
	investment in oil producing economies in Africa	38
5	Summary of Results on the Hypothesis	51

## LIST OF ACRONYMS

COC Control of Corruption

FDIGDP Foreign direct investment inflows as a percentage of GDP

GCFGDP Gross Capital Formation (% of GDP)

GE Government Effectiveness,

INFL Inflation

INST Institutional Quality

PS Political Stability

RL Rule of Law

RQ Regulatory Quality

TO Trade Openness,

VA Voice and Accountability

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODUCTION

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) inflows in oil producing countries in general have seen a decreasing trend over the past years. A gamut of literature has sought to evaluate factors that can stimulate investments in oil producing countries as such countries heavily rely on investment in the oil and gas sector (Kurul & Yalta, 2017). Anecdotal evidence suggests that the oil and gas sectors in oil producing countries in Africa are heavily chocked with foreign entities. It is at this backdrop that the study investigates the role of institutional quality in improving FDI inflows in oil producing countries in Africa. When institutions such as rule of law exists, governments are effective, proper regulations are functioning and the political climate is stable in an economy, foreign investors are confident and that their investments will be protected against nationalization and that rules will be enforced. Predictably, the study documents a direct role of institutional quality in enhancing FDI inflows.

#### **Background** to the Study

Oil and oil products play a major part in key areas in the economy of oil-producing countries. Revenues from the oil sector constitutes a significant component in the budget of oil producing economies. As expected, oil price fluctuations have direct effect on government's oil incomes and general income (and, consequently, government's expenditure).

Another possible phenomenon that could occur in oil producing countries is the Dutch disease. It emerged in early 1960s after gas reserves excavation in Netherlands. The Dutch disease was simply explained as the increase in the economic development of the oil resources sector in

Netherlands at the expense of other sectors like the manufacturing sector or agriculture. In fact the Dutch disease in Netherlands simply implied problems that resulted from anti-industrialization and the inability of the local firms to balance activities and resources to all sectors of its economy (Yavari & Salmani, 2006). Intuitively, one of the ways to support local firms and for that matter minimize the Dutch disease is to attract foreign firms to invest in the host country. Thus it has been argued in literature that FDI inflows is one of the ways the Dutch disease could be minimized (Asiedu, 2006).

Therefore, the essence of foreign direct investment to oil producing countries cannot be underestimated. It contributes immensely to host economies' economic growth and it also forms greater proportion of host economies' share of world capital flows (Asiedu, 2006). According to Bannaga, Gangi, Abdrazak, and Al-Fakhry (2013), FDI contributes enormously to economic growth in the host country via the creation of employment, transfer of managerial and employee competences, expansion of host economies productive capacity and enhancement of healthy competition among firms in the host economy.

Owing to the various benefits derived from FDI inflows, there are a number of theoretical literatures that explains why there exist FDI gaps among sectors, economies and even regions. One of the well-grounded theories is the Eclectic Paradigm theory (the OLI Approach) developed by Dunning (1988, 2001). The theory argues that the Location advantages (L), which is the central theme of this study, refers to the advantages found in the location where the firm is seeking to engage in FDI. Based on the locational advantages, there are

plethora of empirical studies have examined the factors in host countries that attracts firms to engage in FDI.

Some of the factors include large market size, sound infrastructure, abundance of economically useful natural resources, trade openness, human capital, institutional structures, among many others (Asiedu ,2006; Kinda, 2010; Acheampong & Osei, 2014; Habib & Zurawicki, 2002; and Masuku & Dlamini, 2009). The last factor, institutional structures, has not been examined thoroughly in the context of oil producing countries. It is against this backdrop that this study seeks to examine the role of institutional structures in attracting FDI to oil producing countries in Africa.

#### **Problem Statement**

In recent times, there has been a decline of investment in oil producing countries worldwide. According to OPEC (2017), the world economy came under severe pressure in the years 2015 and 2016 following a contraction of \$300 billion in investment which resulted in unemployment and cut of at least half in revenue of oil producing companies. World Bank (2018) document on FDI inflows also reveals that FDI had been decreasing in Africa, including oil producing countries for the past decade. Due to the fact that direct investment in oil production activities in most African countries are dominated by foreign entities, there are doubts as to the future of foreign direct investment in oil producing countries in Africa (Masuku & Dlamini, 2009).

Indeed a number of studies have examined the relationship between institutional quality and foreign direct investment but have not focused on the context of oil producing countries where direct investment in oil production activities is dominated by foreign firms. Thus three tendencies will motivate

this inquiry, namely: the decline of foreign investment in oil producing countries over the past decade; the increasing body of literature on the relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct investment, the literature gaps on the relationship between institutional quality and foreign direct investment in the context of oil producing countries in Africa. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first study that situates the FDI and institutional quality in the context of oil producing countries in Africa. Based on these three tendencies, this study will examine how institutional structures affect FDI inflows to oil producing countries in Africa.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

This study seeks to examine the relationship between institutional structures and FDI inflows to oil producing countries in Africa.

## **Research Objectives**

Specifically, this study will:

- 1. Assess the relationship between voice and accountability and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa
- 2. Assess the relationship between regulatory quality and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa
- Examine the relationship between government effectiveness and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa
- Investigate the relationship between control of corruption and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa
- 5. Investigate the relationship between political stability and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa.

6. Examine the relationship between rule of law and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa

#### **Research Hypotheses**

H1: There is a positive relationship between voice and accountability and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa

H2: There is a positive relationship between regulatory quality and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa

H3: There is a positive relationship between government effectiveness and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa

H4: There is a positive relationship between control of corruption and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa.

H5: There is a positive relationship between political stability and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa.

H6: There is a positive relationship between rule of law and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa

#### Significance of the Study

This research examines how institutional structures help to attract foreign direct inflows to Oil producing countries in Africa economies and as result it has both social and empirical importance. The empirical significance of this study is that it will contribute to existing literature on the relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct investment in African economies because it focuses specifically on oil producing countries. With regards to social relevance, this study will encourage oil producing economies in Africa economies to enhance their institutional structures so as to bring in

more foreign direct investments which will in effect enhance economic development.

#### **Definition of Terms**

## **Foreign Direct Investment**

Foreign direct investment (FDI) is defined as an investment involving a long-term relationship and reflecting a lasting interest and control by a resident entity in one economy (foreign direct investor or parent enterprise) in an enterprise resident in an economy other than that of the foreign direct investor (FDI enterprise or affiliate enterprise or foreign affiliate). FDI implies that the investor exerts a significant degree of influence on the management of the enterprise resident in the other economy. Such investment involves both the initial transaction between the two entities and all subsequent transactions between them and among foreign affiliates, both incorporated and unincorporated. FDI may be undertaken by individuals as well as business entities (OECD, 2012).

#### **Institutional Structures**

Institutional structures simply refer to the pillars that determine how a state or economy is governed. They consist of Rule of Law, Voice and Accountability, Regulatory Quality, Control of Corruption, Government effectiveness and Political Stability.

#### Organization of the study

This study is divided into five chapters. Chapter one talks about an introduction of the study with specifications on areas such as the background to the study, statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, objectives of the study, research hypothesis, significance of the study, delimitations,

### © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

definition of terms, organization of the study and chapter summary. Chapter two talks about literature review, provides theoretical reviews and empirical review of literature of the study.

Chapter three is about the research methods used. It includes the research design, sources of data, variables and measurement, data processing and analysis and chapter summary. Regression results, thorough discussion of the hypothesis stated and a chapter summary are highlighted in chapter four. Chapter five also presents the summary, conclusions and recommendations and suggestion for future research.

## Chapter Summary

Foreign direct investment in oil producing countries over the years has not been encouraging. This chapter therefore examined at the need for oil producing countries in Africa to have foreign direct investment. The chapter also highlighted the importance of strong institutional structures in attracting FDI inflows. This is because the nature institutional structures play a significant role in attracting foreign direct investment for the growth of the economy. The chapter concluded by giving out the definitions of the key terms used in the study and an outline of how the rest of the study is organized.

NOBIS

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Introduction

This chapter presents a review of relevant literature on the relationship between institutional structures and FDI in oil producing countries. The review covers both theoretical and empirical literature. The theoretical literature starts with discussion of the eclectic paradigm theory, overview of FDI, its importance to oil producing countries and the role of oil sector to oil producing countries. The chapter also presents a comprehensive review of empirical literature that supports the objectives of the study. The empirical literature reviews empirical studies that deal with the topic using different studies.

#### **Theoretical Review**

#### **Eclectic Paradigm Theory**

Dunning (1993; 2001) proposed the eclectic paradigm theory which is a three-tiered evaluation framework that companies can follow when attempting to determine if it is beneficial to pursue foreign direct investment. The theory is further explained as an economic model used to evaluate a company's strategy to expand its operations through foreign direct investment. This theory explained that when there are locational advantages, ownership advantages and international advantages within a country, foreign direct investments are attracted into the country.

Dunning (1993; 2001) argued that, locational advantages are necessary for the attraction of foreign direct investment because when there are locational advantages such as large market size, sound infrastructure, abundance of economically useful natural resources, trade openness, human capital, institutional structures, among many others, the level of foreign direct investment will be high. This study therefore stands to argue that institutional structures play a major role in the attraction of foreign direct investment to oil producing countries in Africa. That is, cetaris paribus, when rule of law, voice and accountability, political stability, government effectiveness, regulatory quality and control of corruption among others are in place, the level at which foreign direct investment is attracted will be high.

#### **Overview of Foreign direct investment**

There are different comprehensive definitions and basic features attached to FDI as a concept. It can simply be defined as the official action of a firm in a country to acquire the ownership of assets in another country with the different business-oriented purposes like production, distribution, advertisement etc. According to the United nations 1999 World Investment Report (UNCTAD, 1999), FDI is simply defined as an investment involving a long-term relationship and reflecting a lasting interest and control of a resident entity in one economy (foreign direct investor or parent enterprise) in an enterprise resident in an economy other than that of the foreign direct investor (FDI enterprise, affiliate enterprise or foreign affiliate)'. According to Montiel and Reinhart (2001), one important component of international capital flows is the Foreign Direct Investment (FDI), which refers to movement of financial and human capital from abroad for investment in another country.

According to World Bank (1996), FDI is defined as an investment made to acquire a long term ownership and controlling interest (at least one-tenth of the equity) in firm operating outside the investors' own country.

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) has been defined as the investment of resources in business activities outside a firm's home country. Caves (1996) is on the opinion that attracting more FDI is based on the fact that FDI impact positively on the developmental challenges of host economies.

Mallampally and Sauvant (1999), define FDI as investments by multinational corporations in foreign countries with the aim of controlling assets and managing production activities in those countries. Ayanwale (2007) offers an expanded explanation of the operational meaning of FDI as ownership of at least 10% of the ordinary shares or voting stock in a foreign enterprise. Thus, ownership of 10% ordinary shares is the criterion for the existence of a direct investment relationship while ownership of less than 10% is recorded as portfolio investment. Annaek (2007) defines Foreign Direct Investment as the process whereby people in one country obtain ownership of assets for the purpose of gaining control over the production, distribution and other activities of a firm in a foreign country.

FDI has been classified to different types according to different authors. There are four types of FDI derived from ownership location and internalization (OLI) theory according to Dunning. These are market-seeking FDI, resource-seeking FDI, efficiency seeking FDI and strategic asset seeking FDI. The primary aim of the market-seeking FDI is to penetrate the local markets of host countries in respect to market size and per capita income, market growth, access to regional and global markets, consumer preferences and structure of domestic market. The resource-asset seeking FDI seeks and secures natural resources, for example, raw materials, lower unit labor cost of unskilled labor force and the pool of skilled labor, physical infrastructure

(ports, roads, power, and telecommunication), and the level of technology. The efficiency-seeking FDI is motivated by creating a source of competitiveness for firms and it goes where the costs of production are lower. And lastly, strategic asset seeking FDI aims at advancing firm's global or regional strategy on how to operate in the internalizational market.

Dunning (1998), postulates that for a country to attract FDI, it should take into considerations the following conditions: Firstly, the firms should possess ownership advantages, which enable them to compete efficiently in the local market. Secondly, the host countries should possess some locational advantages which encourage outside firms to serve local market directly rather than going for exports.

### The Importance of FDI for Oil- Producing Countries

One major benefit of FDI inflows to oil producing countries is that it enhances economic growth. According to the neoclassical models of growth, which also called Solow-Swan model and the exogenous growth model, FDI contributes to country's economic growth via capital accumulation, it further suggests that the long-run economic growth depends on technology and employment tools (Solow, 1956; Swan, 1956). The new growth model has also explained the relationship between FDI and economic growth. That model, which is also called the endogenous growth model, suggests that FDI is more significant than domestic investment in terms of enhancing a country's economic growth (Romer, 1986, Lucas, 1988). Thus, FDI can affect the economic growth of the host economy positively in two ways, directly and indirectly. The direct impact of FDI on economic growth occurs through new capital flows which lead to an increase of capital accumulation in the host

country and through the transfer of new technologies. The indirect impacts take the form of improvements in human capital and managerial skills due to the entry of new technologies into the production process (De Mello, 1999).

Technology Diffusion is another importance of FDI inflows to oil producing countries. FDI is regarded as a channel for transferring ideas (Rivera-Batiz and Romer, 1991, Barrell and Pain, 1997), and it is widely documented that most new ideas in the form of modern technologies and inventions are produced in developed countries, by MNCs in particular, thanks to their high level of expenditure on Research and Development (R&D) (UNCTAD, 2005). One of the important reasons that encourage oil producing countries to attract FDI is the desire of acquiring technology that they are unable to develop on their own.

FDI inflows may also be beneficial to the development and restructuring of domestic firms in oil producing countries. The presence of FDI creates backward linkages with domestic firms through increasing the demand for intermediate goods. This process thereby might serve and promote industrial development in the host economy. For instance, in most oil producing countries, there are local content policies which make provision for domestic companies to participate in the oil and gas value chain. These advantages are likely to be greater if MNCs have succeeded in transferring technology to domestic firms as it will increase their productivity and efficiency (Lin and Saggi, 2007, Batra and Tan, 2002).

The labour market in the oil producing economies could derive benefits from the presence of FDI through three main channels which are: job creation, wages ratio and skills development. FDI creates job opportunities in

#### © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

the host country in two ways: firstly, the establishing of new projects in the host economy by foreign firms requires local labour at different stages of the production cycle. Secondly, the linkages between MNCs and domestic firms in terms of the demand for intermediate goods will also help to create jobs in the domestic firms themselves to meet the growing demand for new products (UNCTAD, 1999). With respect to employee training, it is widely agreed that MNCs tend to spend extensively on training; a tendency which contributes to developing local employment skills among those who work in foreign firms, while it can also encourage domestic firms to train their employees in order to reach higher productivity levels (UNCTAD, 1999).

## **Empirical Review**

#### Voice and accountability and FDI Inflows

Accountability is one of the mainstays of good governance and democracy that empowers the state and its institutions, the public sector and civil society work in the direction of focused objectives and results, accomplish their goals, create compelling strategies through strong monitoring and reporting mechanisms (Rondinelli, 2007). As indicated by Cheema (2007), accountability can be characterized as the premise of public services, and is regularly used to depict the process of governance where the citizens measure the political accountability. In addition, Albritton and Bureekul (2009) accept that through accountability, the local constituents have the capacity to make their representatives liable for their performance and actions and reward or discipline them when required. Similarly, the likelihood of establishing accountability is only when the public have access to information

about the performance of the government, and has the chance to raise their voice when fundamental.

According to Cheema (2007), the accountability can be divided into three general classes. They are, firstly, financial accountability where authorities taking care of resources have an obligation to report about the utilization of those resources. Secondly, political accountability where transparent mechanisms are set up to either sanction or reward the judiciary, legislative or executive power through a strong check and balance system, and thirdly, implementing administrative accountability where government officials are considered accountable. Kaufmann et al, (2008) defined the Voice and Accountability (VA) indicator as a perception which measures the extent to which people have the opportunity to participate in electing a government, have the freedom to association, freedom of expression and the freedom given for the media.

Several empirical studies have examined the effect of voice and accountability on FDI inflows. Dutta and Roy (2009), using a panel of 115 countries for a period of 20 years, investigated the impact of press freedom on FDI inflows. They established that higher inflows of FDI to an economy are significantly associated with media freedom. Morck et al. (2005), in their extensive review of the literature, indicated that FDI is correlated with voice and accountability. In particular, they argued that economies that are characterized by freedom of expression and freedom of association may create popular support for FDI inflows. Further, their results suggested that more freedom of association may generate domestic political support for FDI inflows.

Kummell (1998) and Diamond (1992) stated that the increased participation of society in government criticism will reduce government inefficiencies and will enhance FDI inflows. Voice and Accountability is expected to increase FDI flows by encouraging political reliability, participation in the political system, and promoting democratic institutions (Kurul \& Yalta, 2017). The results of Kurul and Yalta (2017) indicated that voice and accountability positively and significantly influences FDI inflows.

#### **Regulatory Quality and FDI**

The quality or the superiority of the regulation system of a country depends on the extent to which the regulations are made and the level to which people accept them (Lee & Tan, 2006). Therefore, it is an immense responsibility of the governments to ensure that quality regulations are in place and the economy is operated within those regulations and policies to boost economic development improve social welfare and attract foreign investments (Rodrik, 1999). Using panel data set containing information on FDI flows to host countries, Moe (1990) examined the impact of changes in the quality of government regulatory effectiveness and governance practices upon the direction of FDI inflows. The study showed that deterioration in the effectiveness and enforcement of investment regulations (such as price controls and excessive regulation in foreign trade and business development) has an adverse effect on FDI inflows.

According to Glass and Saggi (2002), there are three main reasons why regulatory qualities are essential increasing the inflow of FDI and attracting foreign investors. They are, firstly, efficient and able state institutions run within a strong regulatory framework will boost production to attract

investment. Secondly, bad governance and poor regulations will lead to inefficient institutions associated with corruption and mismanagement. Therefore, thirdly, the risk and uncertainty of FDI will negatively impact the economy and possibility of attaining foreign investments. According to Kostevc, et al. (2007), most essential determinants of FDI inflows are the quality of institutional framework based on private property rights, strong laws on investments and contracts.

#### **Government Effectiveness and FDI**

Governance is a multi-faceted concept encompassing all aspects of the exercise of authority through formal and informal institutions in the management of the resource endowment of a state (Hunter & Shah, 1998). Its effectiveness refers to whether the public administration does well what it is supposed to do, whether people in these entities work hard and well, whether the actions and procedures of the public organizations and its members help achieve the objectives, and in the end, whether it actually achieves its mission (Rainey & Steinbauer, 1999). Government effectiveness constitutes the capacity and ability of the state to implement effective policies (Lederman, et al., 2005). Hence, when government effectiveness exists, the state will be able to provide quality public services, exercise effective bureaucracy, make the civil service independent from political pressure and earn the public's trust on the credibility and commitment of the government in implementing sound policies (Oster, 2009).

More concretely, government effectiveness is oriented to more closely matching services with citizen preferences, and moving governments closer to the people they are intended to serve, thus ensuring greater accountability of the public sector (Hunter & Shah, 1998). Several studies show that improved governance leads to better development outcomes such as, among other variables, economic growth, public investment and foreign direct investment (Gupta et al., 1998; Boswell & Richardson, 2003).

Government effectiveness plays a major role in contributing to the inflow of foreign investments by attracting foreign firms into the host country (Rodrik, 2008). According to Adhikary (2011), many empirical studies agree that governance effectiveness indicator is a determining factor of economic development through the inflow of FDI. Moreover, Montinola and Jackman (2002) stated that the ability to attract foreign investments does not depend on the nature of existing policies but also the nature of the government. Easterly (2006) stated that the empirical observations argue that countries with unhelpful policies, high inflation, major black market rewards, high budget deficits leads to economic growth deficiency and lower level of foreign investments. Similarly, the ability of the host country government to have a strong and favorable tax mechanism and suitable rental policies will attract FDI (Gerring, et al., 2005).

Blaydes and Kayser (2011) argues that effective and favorable governance infrastructure is one of the most important factors to attract the inflow of FDI and increase the outflow. Investment in governance infrastructure will not only attract foreign capital, but create favorable conditions for domestic and foreign Multinational Companies (MNCs) in small and developing nations (Murphy, et al., 1991). Hence, a 'positive' governance infrastructure will consist of impartial, effective and transparent legal system, stable public institutions, honest and credible government

policies which will favor free and open markets (Globerman & Shapiro, 2003).

#### **Corruption and FDI**

The all-embracing piece of literature related to FDI and corruption is by Quazi, Vemuri, and Soliman (2014). Quazi et al. (2014) posited that corruption acts as a grabbing hand to reduce FDI inflows. The authors explain that there are multiple ways that this occurs. Corruption creates inefficiencies and distortions, which raise transaction costs for investors. It also creates a risk of endangering brand goodwill in cases when a scandal occurs. Finally, corruption negatively affects other important determinants of FDI, like economic growth, productivity of public investment, quality of infrastructure, education, and healthcare services..

Wei (2000) directly examined the effect of corruption on FDI. The study found that corruption has a negative effect on inward FDI. Al-Sadig (2009) reexamined the effects of corruption on FDI inflows using an econometric method based on panel data. The study found that corruption level in the host country has an adverse effect on FDI inflows. When controlling for institutional quality, however, Al-Sadig finds that countries with sound institutions are able to attract around 29 percent more per capita FDI than ones with weaker ones. Another study that supports the grabbing hand hypothesis was by Habib and Zurawicki (2002). The study also examines the impact of corruption on FDI, but discussed extensively the theoretical background of FDI and corruption's impact on markets. The study concluded that foreign investors generally avoid corruption because it is considered wrong and can create operational inefficiencies. These three sources provide

credible evidence that corruption negatively impacts FDI inflows into countries. The "helping hand" hypothesis concludes the exact opposite.

However, there are some other studies that posits that corruption actual increases FDI inflows. Quazi et al. (2014) described this phenomenon as the helping hand hypothesis. First, corruption can allow investors to avoid bureaucratic red tape. Paying off key officials might also mean quicker entry into a country and less stringent regulatory policies on multinational companies. Corruption also helps to supplement low wages in developing countries, which allows multinational companies to keep their tax burdens low and contributes to growth. Finally, it can smooth the economic system in the presence of weak regulations to create a Pareto Optimal outcome. Houston (2007) finds that while there are restrictive effects of corruption, there tends to be expansionary economic effects in countries with weak institutions. The study concludes that trying to eliminate corruption in countries where it plays an expansionary role can be a costly battle and will be resisted. The study proposes improving fundamental governance structures as a more appropriate target. This piece of literature doesn't reject that corruption is costly, but instead proposes that corruption might be a benefit for weaker institutions.

Indeed, corruption is a predominant phenomenon in resource-rich developing countries. Kareem (2015) finds that FDI is negatively associated with inadequate infrastructure, corruption, inconsistent regulations, and security problems.

#### **Political Stability and FDI**

Political stability is the durability and integrity of a current government regime. This is determined based on the amount of violence and terrorism

expressed in the nation and by citizens associated with the state. A stable society is one that is satisfied with the ruling party and system of operations and is not interested in revolutionary or despotic ideas. A stable political scene is one where the ruling government is favored by the population and does not experience strong indicators of social unrest. While there are problems within any nation, and times of war or hardship are common, a stable political system is one that can withstand these occurrences without major societal upheaval and ongoing endurance of these circumstances. Much of the ability of a political system to sustain itself relies on how leaders respond to crises. People must be satisfied with how their rulers handle problems and the solutions they create or else the fallout from these events results in destruction of hierarchies and government agencies. Revolutions, terrorism and public violence are associated with failed political stability. Political stability requires that the public interacts freely and openly with legislators on a regular basis. Granting individuals a say in how a nation is run enhances the stability of the region.

Lucas (1990) argued that political instability could limit capital flows. Investments in many oil-rich countries are exposed to large political risks, so FDI inflows to these countries are limited. Democracies tend to be more predictable and make their preferences clear (Desbordes & Veradi, 2017), thus reducing investment uncertainty. Additionally, democracies may be accompanied by countries' openness to the world economy.

The lack of democracy boosts social tensions that increase the likelihood of bringing severe political and social crisis to a country (Guerin & Manzocchi, 2009). Similarly, Harms et. al., (2002) and Kucera et. al. (2017) point out a positive relationship between democracy and FDI. In contrast,

however studies such as Adam et. al. (2007) and Paniagua and Sapena (2014) found a negative effect of democracy on FDI. This is because some characteristics of democracies, such as changes of governments and policies, may be seen as drawbacks.

More precisely, in countries abundant in natural resources, autocracies may offer more advantages than disadvantages to those foreign firms interested in investing in the resource sector for rent-seeking motives. This is mainly due to the fact that point-source natural resources, and particularly oil, are controlled by local authorities. Aseidu and Lien (2011) suggested that MNEs in the extractive industry wish to avoid frequent changes of governments, since governments that have long-term stability favour closer ties. Moreover, Adam et. al., (2007) argued that when investment seeks to access natural resources, MNEs may prefer slight civil repression.

In recent times, there are many factors which the investors consider significant when they want to invest their money and resources in another country, and one of those factors significantly influencing the decision of the investors is the political stability of the environment in which they want to establish their business (Martinez-Zarzoso, 2003). Therefore, the political stability of a country significantly influences the inflow of FDI (Wang, 2009). Political uncertainty makes public official and investors to have a short term focus, and at the same time sacrifices the legality and work for personal benefits (Shahbaz & Rahman, 2010).

#### **Rule of Law and FDI**

Many scholars and policy makers cite the rule of law as a key factor in a number of different positive outcomes. In particular, policy makers point to the important role the rule of law plays in facilitating FDI and economic development. In general, there is support for the idea that a strong rule of law relates positively to FDI. In the context of FDI, rule of law reduces uncertainty, allows for long-term planning, and therefore increases FDI. Governments that establish independent courts commit to protecting investment against both citizens and the government itself and this will attract FDI inflows (Staats & Biglaiser, 2011).

Rights protection is one of the main outcomes of the rule of law. Some empirical works have therefore established a strong positive connection between FDI and contract, property, physical integrity (Harms and Ursprung 2002; Blanton and Blanton 2007), workers' right (Kucera 2002; Neumeyer & de Soysa, 2006) and education rights (Noorbakhsh, Paloni, & Youssef, 2001; Blomstrom & Kokko, 2003). Investors value contract and property rights as a way to protect their investment from government expropriation and from business partners reneging on agreements (Li & Resnick 2003; Biglaiser & DeRouen, 2006; Jensen 2008). Protections of the other rights mean a country is more stable, a more educated work force, and that the host country government that expresses concern for their citizens' well-being. These are all conditions investors find attractive and thus attracts more FDI inflows.

Finally, some studies debate the importance of regime type (as a measure of rule of law) for FDI. While scholars initially believed authoritarian regimes were better able to attract FDI (e.g. O'Donnell 1978; Tuman & Emmert 2004), more recent work established that democracies are actually better at committing to investor-friendly policies and protecting property and

### © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

contract rights over the long term to attract FDI (Henisz 2000; Li & Resnick 2003, Jensen 2008).

#### **Chapter Summary**

The chapter began by providing a theoretical backing to the study. The eclectic paradigm theory provided the theoretical justification for the study. The study also reviewed concepts of FDI and Institutions and narrowed it to the context of Africa. The chapter further reviewed empirical literature based on the objectives of the study in order to substantiate the objectives of the study. Gaps in the review of literature revealed that FDI inflows has been extensively studied in Africa, however, gaps still exists as the nexus between FDI inflows and institutions has not been studied in the context of oil producing countries.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### RESEARCH METHODS

#### Introduction

This chapter presents a thorough and systematic process that the researcher employed to achieve the objectives of the study. These procedures were used to examine how institutional structures and FDI inflows affects oil producing countries in Africa. This chapter specifically presents the research paradigm, research design, research approach, definition, source and measurement of variables, data collection procedure and data source, methods of data processing and analysis and empirical model specification.

## **Research Philosophical Perspectives or Paradigm**

Philosophical perspectives can be defined as the frameworks in which all academic researchers are involved. At the other hand, the research paradigm is characterized as a general organizing structure for theory and study that includes basic theories, key issues and quality research models and methods for finding answers (Neuman, 2006). In line with this view, ignoring the philosophical questions and paradigms of research will affect the quality of research (Amaratunga, Baldry, Sarshar, & Newton, 2002).

There are two main philosophical positions of social research, namely epistemology and ontology (Bryman, 2004). Ontology regards the researcher's opinions concerning the global community and what could be identified from it. Ontology comprises two extreme positions namely: realism and relativism.

The acknowledgement of knowledge in a discipline is Epistemology. Epistemology also comprises two extreme positions namely: positivism and interpretivism. Positivist research only views objective statements as valid and scientific. Positivist model seeks objective results through a value-free approach and makes sure the researcher is separate from the respondent (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). In addition, the positivist paradigm is also associated with the quantitative approach to research in literature. Interpretivist research on the other hand, only considers the ideas and thoughts of the subject to be valid. Interpretivist paradigm follows an inductive approach, which seeks to generate research theory through a variety of research methods. Interpretivist research is also linked to a qualitative research approach in literature. The philosophy behind this study at the level of epistemology is the positivist paradigm.

## Research Design

Research design can be exploratory, descriptive or explanatory (Saunders et al., 2012). The study employed the explanatory research design. Explanatory research design investigates the cause and effect of one or a set of variables (independent) on another variable (dependent) in a theoretical model that is developed (Saunders et al., 2012). Explanatory research design places importance on studying a situation to explain the relationships between variables. The study is grounded on explanatory research design since it sought to examine the cause and effect of institutional structures and foreign direct investment inflows to oil producing countries in Africa.

## Research Approach

According to Creswell (2014), there exist three key approaches to research, namely, the quantitative approach, the qualitative approach and the mixed research approach. A qualitative research has to do with studies that concentrate on events that occur naturally and in natural settings. It makes

generalization from intuitive and perceptual phenomena which could not be appreciated numerically. The mixed method has to do with combination of both the qualitative and quantitative research methods. It provides a comprehensive appreciation of the research problem from both the quantitative and qualitative perspective (Creswell, 2013). The mixed method of research merges components of the qualitative and quantitative research approaches together before making conclusion about the behaviour of a phenomenon (Clark & Creswell, 2011).

The quantitative research approach seeks to determine the effect between the main study variables. Quantitative approach places focus on measurement and to provide explanations, data is analyzed in numeric form. Similarly, quantitative approach has techniques, measures and designs that come up with numerical and quantifiable data (Simon, Lee, Cottrell, &Verleysen, 2007). For these reasons, the study deploys quantitative variables to test the contribution of institutional structures and foreign direct investment inflows to oil producing countries in Africa.

### **Data Collection Procedures**

The study examined the relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct investment inflows to oil producing countries in Africa. Based on that basis, annual secondary data on institutional structure indicators for 19 oil producing countries in Africa were obtained from the Worldwide Governance Indicators whilst FDI variables were obtained from World Development Indicators dataset, both by World Bank. The drive for the period selection is that the indicators that make up institutional quality currently spans from the year 1996 – 2016. However, this study obtains data from 2002

to 2016. With the exception of Ghana that started oil production in 2007, all the oil producing countries in Africa started oil production before 1996 so there was a data not inputted for Ghana for the periods before 2007.

# **Model Specification**

A regression analysis was conducted to show the actual relationship between institutional structures and FDI. This involves both the focus on dependent (foreign direct investment), independent (institutional structures which entails control of corruption, political stability, rule of law, voice and accountability, regulatory quality and government effectiveness) and control variables. The model below specifies the relationship between institutional structures and FDI.

$$FDIGDP_{it} = \beta_1 FDIGDP_{it-1} + \beta_2 INST_{it} + \sum_{i=3}^{n} \beta_i Z_{it} + \mu_{it}$$
 .....(1)

Where:

Where *i* and *t* represents cross-sections (countries) and time respectively.

FDIGDP is foreign direct investment (% GDP)

 $FDIGDP_{t-1}$  is the lag of foreign direct investment (% GDP)

*INST* represents the institutional structures

lnZ also denotes the control variables

 $\beta$  denotes the coefficients

 $\mu$  represents the error term

Several aspects determine the institutional quality of countries. These institutional structures will be proxied by the six institutional indicators put forth by Kaufmann, Kraay and Mastruzzi (2011) which includes control of corruption, political stability, voice and accountability, regulatory quality, rule

of law and government effectiveness. These institutional structures influence or affect foreign direct investment inflows to oil producing countries in Africa.

## **Data Processing and Analysis**

The data were processed by Stata version 13.0 and the study engaged the dynamic panel Generalized Method of Moment estimators in the estimation of the model. This technique was developed by Holtz-Eeakin and Rosen (1990), and Arellano and Bond (1991) and later advanced by Arellano and Bover (1995) and Blundell and Bond (1998). The study employed the dynamic panel data estimator as a result of the need to deal with simultaneity bias and country-specific effect. By estimating the model using the dynamic panel data Generalized Method of Moment estimator, the model was transformed into first difference to do away with country-specific effect and the one-year lag of the independent variables have been employed as instruments to avoid simultaneity bias (Arellano & Bond, 1991). Nonetheless, it is asserted that this sort of modeling would perhaps result in invalid conclusion if the independent variables persist (Arellano & Bover, 1995). This case holds for institutional structures as they persist the moment they are instituted in society (Acemoglu & Robinson, 2008; Law & Azman-Saini, 2012). However, Arellano and Bover (1995) suggested a system Generalized Method of Moment estimator where the level and the difference equations are combined.

There are two alternates of system Generalized Method of Moment estimator; the one-step estimators and the two-step estimators. The study employed the two-step estimators coupled with corrected standard errors because, theoretically; it is more efficient than on-step estimator. The system

GMM is suitable for this study for two main reasons. First, the Generalized Method of Moment method takes control of endogeneity problems created by the independent variables.

Second, it is efficient if the study's time period is short (Roodman, 2006). The time period considered in this study is not long and quite significant numbers of oil producing countries in Africa have been included. To ensure whether our estimation is consistent, we applied the Arellano and Bond test of second order serial correlation with the disturbance term (Arellona & Bond, 1991). In addition, the potency of the instruments and whether the model is correctly specified would be based on the failure to reject the null of the Arellano and Bond test. Disturbance term, by structure, will perhaps be serially interrelated in the first order. Nevertheless, second level serial association is indicative of misspecification.

#### **Measurement of Variables**

The choice of measurement for all the variables was influenced by the fact that those measures have been widely used in literature. Foreign direct investment, the dependent variable was measure by FDI inflows as a percentage of GDP and this data will be sourced from world development indicators dataset. Institutional structures, the independent variable was measured by the simple average of the six worldwide governance indicators which are control of corruption, voice and accountability, rule of law, government effectiveness, regulatory quality and political stability. The World Bank gives a comprehensive explanation of these variables as listed underneath:

Foreign direct investment refers to direct investment equity flows in the reporting economy. It is the sum of equity capital, reinvestment of earnings, and other capital. Direct investment is a category of cross-border investment associated with a resident in one economy having control or a significant degree of influence on the management of an enterprise that is resident in another economy.

Rule of law highlights perceptions of the extent to which agents have confidence in and abide by the rules of society, and in particular the quality of contract enforcement, property rights, the police, and the courts, as well as the likelihood of crime and violence. Voice and accountability captures perceptions of the extent to which a country's citizens are able to participate in selecting their government, as well as freedom of expression, freedom of association and the freedom given to the media. Regulatory quality captures perceptions of the ability of the government to formulate and implement sound policies and regulations that permit and promote private sector development.

Government effectiveness captures perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the civil service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of policy formulation and implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment to such policies. Political stability measures perceptions of the likelihood of political instability and/or politically-motivated violence, including terrorism. Control of Corruption captures perceptions of the extent to which public power is exercised for private gain, including both petty and grand forms of corruption, as well as "capture" of the state elites and private interests.

# © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

The description of the above mentioned variables is summarized in the table below.

**Table 1: Description of Variables and Source of Data** 

Variable	Measurement	Data source	
Foreign direct	Foreign direct investment	World Development	
investment inflows	inflows as a percentage of	Indicators 2002 to 2017	
	GDP		
Institutional Quality	Simple average of the	Worldwide governance	
	estimates of the six	Indicators, 2002 to	
	Worldwide Governance	2017	
	Indicators		
Regulatory Quality	Estimates ranging from	Worldwide governance	
(Estimate)	approximately -2.5 to 2.5.	Indicators, 2002 to	
		2017	
Control of	Estimates ranging from	Worldwide governance	
Corruption	approximately -2.5 to 2.5.	Indicators, 2002 to	
(Estimate)		2017	
Voice and	Estimates ranging from	Worldwide governance	
accountability	approximately -2.5 to 2.5.	Indicators, 2002 to	
(Estimate)		2017	

NOBIS

Table 1 continued

Political Stability	Estimates ranging from	Worldwide governance		
(Estimate)	approximately -2.5 to 2.5.	Indicators, 2002 to		
	off-comments and to all the	2017		
Rule of Law	Estimates ranging from	Worldwide governance		
(Estimate)	approximately -2.5 to 2.5.	Indicators, 2002 to		
(========)	off-	2017		
Government	Estimates ranging from	Worldwide governance		
effectiveness	approximately -2.5 to 2.5.	Indicators, 2002 to		
(Estimate)	TI	2017		
Gross Capital	Gross Capital Formation (%	World Development		
Formation (% GDP)	GDP)	Indicators 2002 to 2017		
	,			
Trade Openness	Trade (%GDP)	World Development		
		Indicators 2002 to 2017		
Inflation	% Change in CPI	World Development		
		Indicators 2002 to 2017		

Source: Field Survey, Armah (2018)

## **Chapter Summary**

This chapter presented the research methods employed in conducting the study. The study is grounded on the positivist research paradigm and the quantitative research approach. The study adopted the explanatory research design as it seeks to examine the relationship between institutional structures and FDI inflows to oil producing countries in Africa. Added to the above, the study sampled 17 out of a total of 54 countries in Africa due to fact those selected are oil producing countries. Furthermore, the study developed a model. This model seeks to examine the relationship between institutional structures and FDI inflows to oil producing countries in Africa. Finally, the study employed the Generalized Method of Moment estimation techniques to estimate the model as it controls for endogeneity.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### Introduction

The results obtained from the empirical analysis are presented and discussed in this chapter. First of all, this chapter presents descriptive statistics to give an impression of institutional structures and FDI in oil producing African countries. The chapter then presents a correlation matrix and subsequently, the discussions on various model estimated in the study.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

The descriptive statistics is presented on a sample of 17 out of a total of 54 countries in Africa due to fact those selected are oil producing countries and also have available data that spans over 15 years. The descriptive statistics presented in this section is the mean, which is the measure of average, the standard deviation which is the measure of degree of variability in the data, the minimum and the maximum values for each variable.

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics of the Variables employed in the study

79	Mean	SD	MIN	MAX
FDIGDP	4.33	6.26	-6.1	50.0
INST	-0.83	0.54	-2.1	0.4
VA	-0.88	0.66	-2.0	0.7
RQ	-0.78	0.56	-2.3	0.8
GE	-0.82	0.60	-2.5	0.7
COC	-0.86	0.51	-1.8	0.6
PS	-0.83	0.84	-2.7	0.8
RL	-0.82	0.57	-1.9	0.3
TO	76.36	29.24	19.1	165.6
GCFGDP	24.73	10.09	1.6	61.5
INFL	120.28	53.28	12.88	140.89

Source: Field data, Armah (2019)

FDIGDP is a measure of Foreign direct investment inflows as a percentage of GDP, INST is a measure of institutional quality, VA represents Voice and Accountability, RQ represents Regulatory Quality, GE represents Government Effectiveness, COC represents Control of Corruption, PS represents Political Stability, RL represents Rule of Law, TO represents Trade openness, GCFGDP is represents Gross Capital Formation (% of GDP) and INFL represents Inflation.

From the descriptive statistics, foreign direct investment inflows had an average of 4.33 within the ranges of -6.1 and 50.0. This clearly shows that although most oil producing African economies attract foreign direct inflows over time; these economies have not been able to match up well with other regions in the world. With regards to institutional quality, the aggregate institutional quality variable had an average of -0.83 within the limits of -2.1 and 0.4. This proposes that institutional quality in Africa is weak because even the best oil producing economies in terms of institutional quality had an average of 0.4.

In order to have a detailed understanding of the specific state of the institutional quality in the sample African countries, the study also presented the descriptive statistics of each of the six institutional indicators. Voice and Accountability and Regulatory Quality had averages of -0.88 within the ranges of -2.0 and 0.7 as well as -0.78 within the limits -2.3 and 0.8 respectively. Government Effectiveness and Control of Corruption recorded averages of -0.82 within the limits -2.5 and 0.7 as well as -0.86 within the ranges of -1.8 and 0.6 respectively. Moreover, Political Stability and Rule of Law had averages of -0.83 within the limits -2.7 and 0.8 as well as -0.82 within the ranges of -1.9 and 0.3 respectively. Collectively, all these statistics on the various institutional quality scopes disclose that Voice and Accountability is the weakest dimension of all institutional quality followed by Control of Corruption, Political Stability, Rule of Law, and Government Effectiveness in most oil producing African economies whilst Regulatory Quality is the strongest.

## © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

Trade openness (imports and exports) had an average of 76.36 within the ranges of 19.1 and 165.6. This clearly shows that most oil producing African economies have engaged in greater trade openness over time and this is essentially because international financial organizations grant aids to developing economies based on the condition of greater trade openness. The investment rate as measured by Gross capital formation recorded an average of 24.73 within the limits 1.6 and 61.5. Finally, inflation recorded an average of 120.28, within the limits 12.88 and 140.89, and this reveals that there are still inflationary pressures in the sampled some oil producing economies in Africa.

# **Correlation Analysis**

**Table 3 : Correlation Matrix** 

Table 5.	Correlation	II Mati ix									
	FDIGDP	INST	VA	RQ	GE	COC	PS	RL	TO	GCFGDP	INFL
FDIGDP	1				-		3				
INST	-0.02932	1									
VA	-0.04059	0.823562	1								
RQ	-0.04644	0.927052	0.77843	1							
GE	-0.05226	0.939848	0.734042	0.904409	1						
COC	-0.04923	0.925361	0.778141	0.883739	0.9343 <mark>62</mark>	1					
PS	0.052689	0.703155	0.357986	0.515718	0.535 <mark>34</mark>	0.468817	1				
RL	-0.05223	0.951034	0.74713	0.872906	0.91243	0.906708	0.608127	1			
TO	0.415249	-0.01258	-0.15703	-0.108	-0.10736	-0.08008	0.342894	-0.10438	1		
GCFGDP	0.432062	0.032456	-0.06867	-0.01066	0.066455	0.032473	0.114602	0.00577	0.327492	1	
INFL	-0.55206	-0.12226	-0.07667	-0.12663	-0.77455	-0.53847	-0.4486	-0.12658	-0.56349	-0.55878	1

Source: Field data, Armah (2019)

FDIGDP is a measure of Foreign direct investment inflows as a percentage of GDP, INST is a measure of institutional quality, VA represents Voice and Accountability, RQ represents Regulatory Quality, GE represents Government Effectiveness, COC represents Control of Corruption, PS represents Political Stability, RL represents Rule of Law, TO represents Trade openness, GCFGDP is represents Gross Capital Formation (% of GDP) and INFL represents Inflation.

Table 3 presents the pairwise correlation matrix for the all the variables employed in the empirical analysis. Predictably, the overall or aggregate institutional structure index depicts a high pairwise correlation with each of the six institutional structures indicators and this is because the aggregated institutional quality variable is an average of the institutional structure indicators. It does not pose multicollinearity or autocorrelation problems because the aggregate institutional quality variable does not enter the same model with any of the six institutional structures indicators. Also, a close examination of the correlation matrix reveals that there are no issues of multicollinearity in the empirical specification because the other independent variables do not exhibit correlation coefficients more than 0.90 (Adam & Gyamfi, 2015).

# Regression results on the relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa

The table below shows the effect of each of the institutional indicators as well the composite institutional quality on the FDI of sampled oil producing countries in Africa. The column labeled Model 1 depicts the results on the effect of the overall or aggregate institutional structures index on foreign direct investment which is in line with purpose of the study. The table further presents the effect of each of the institutional structures indicators on foreign direct investment of sampled oil producing countries in Africa in sub-models 2

*−* 7.

Table 4: Relationship between institutional structures and foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa

Dependent Variable: Foreign Direct Investment

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7
L.FDIGDP	0.133***	0.184***	$0.119^{***}$	0.123***	$0.168^{***}$	$0.148^{***}$	0.147***
	[0.019]	[0.013]	[0.014]	[0.014]	[0.008]	[0.010]	[0.010]
INST	9.772***				_	_	_
	[0.488]						
VA		4.319***					
		[0.228]					
RQ		. ,	7.157***				
			[0.345]				
GE				7.295***			
				[1.052]			
COC				[1.032]	-7.455***		
coc					[0.356]		
PS					[0.330]	3.248***	
15						[0.436]	
RL						[0.430]	6.930***
KL							[0.573]
Control Var.							[0.575]
GCFGDP	0.332***	0.303***	0.322***	0.325***	0.300***	0.327***	0.290***
001021	[0.017]	[0.009]	[0.016]	[0.006]	[0.013]	[0.007]	[0.010]
TO	0.055***	0.009**	0.0360***	0.047***	0.043***	-0.008*	0.043***
10	[0.003]	[0.004]	[0.003]	[0.008]	[0.003]	[0.004]	[0.004]
INFL	- 0.050***	-0.011**	-0.086***	-0.667***	-0.083***	-0.118***	-0.431***
	[0.004]	[0.003]	[0.002]	[0.016]	[0.039]	[0.0164]	[0.009]
Diagnostic	[5.55.1]	[3,000]	1,1,1,1	[419-4]	[0.0027]	[0.0.0.]	[]
AR(2):z	-1.344	-1.396	-1.444	-1.365	-3.421	-1.877	-1.228
P-Value	0.2143	0.1966	0.162	0.2096	0.1554	0.1020	0.2435
Sargan OIR	0.445	0.0083	0.362	0.264	0.603	0.126	0.3456
Hansen OIR	0.750	0.714	0.888	0.554	0.911	0.323	0.5687
Observ.	293	293	293	293	293	293	293
Source: Field survey, Armah (2018)							

Source: Field survey, Armah (2018)

Note: FDIGDP is a measure of Foreign direct investment inflows as a percentage of GDP, INST is a measure of institutional quality, VA represents Voice and Accountability, RQ represents Regulatory Quality, GE represents Government Effectiveness, COC represents Control of Corruption, PS represents Political Stability, RL represents Rule of Law, TO represents Trade openness, GCFGDP is represents Gross Capital Formation (% of GDP) and INFL represents Inflation. Apart from the diagnostics section, all values in bracket are the standard errors of the coefficients values and values other than those in bracket represent the coefficient values; \*\*\* represents significant at 1%, \*\*represents significant at 5%, \* represents significant at 10%. The diagnostics section presents the values of the Z values of AR (2) and the probability of z values of AR (2).

Figures in parenthesis are standard errors

Model 1 in Table 4 presents the results on the relationship between institutional quality and foreign direct investment of oil producing African countries. The result from model 1 shows that at 1% significance level, institutional quality has a significant positive effect on foreign direct

investment of oil producing African economies. The coefficient of 9.772 shows that a unit increase in institutional quality will lead to a 9.772 unit increase in foreign direct investment of oil producing African economies. This shows that institutional quality in is expected to enhance FDI to oil producing countries because FDI since risk associated with the investment reduces when there is a strong institutional environment. Again, strong institutional quality will enhance FDI to oil producing countries because investors, and especially foreign investors, will seek a system that fully guarantees a stable environment and allows them to develop in a continuous manner their economic activity in a country. This results is in line with Wei (2000) who argues that low quality institutions are prone to represent extra costs for firms through corruption or high load of arbitrary bureaucracy. Therefore, high institutional quality institutions will help attract more foreign direct investments in economies since it saves these foreign investors some cost, set the tone for them to begin operations and urges or influence them to invest in countries that are particularly oil producing African economies.

Table 4 additionally presents the results from Models 2-7 in order to examine the specific effects of each of the institutional indicators on foreign direct investment of oil producing African economies.

## **Voice and Accountability and FDI inflows**

The result from Model 2 in Table 1 shows that at 1% significance level, voice and accountability has a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment in oil producing countries in Africa. The coefficient of 4.319 shows that a unit increase in voice and accountability will lead to a 4.319 unit increase in foreign direct investment of oil producing African economies.

Accountability is one of the mainstays of good governance and democracy that powers the state and its institutions, the public sector and civil society work in the direction of focused objectives and results, accomplish their goals, create compelling strategies through strong monitoring and reporting mechanisms. Thus this results is consistent with Dutta and Roy (2009) who established that higher inflows of FDI to an economy are significantly associated with media freedom. Also, it is in line with Morck et al. (2005) who indicated that FDI is correlated with voice and accountability. In particular, they argued that economies that are characterized by freedom of expression and freedom of association may create popular support for FDI inflows. Again the results corroborate with Kummell (1998) and Diamond (1992) who stated that the increased participation of society in government criticism will reduce government inefficiencies and will enhance FDI inflows. In line with the results, Kurul and Yalta (2017) posited that, voice and accountability is expected to increase FDI flows by encouraging political reliability, participation in the political system, and promoting democratic.

## **Regulatory Quality and FDI inflows**

Results from Model 3 in Table 4 indicated a positive significant effect of regulatory quality on foreign direct investment. This positive coefficient for regulatory quality signifies very good indication that it is important for foreign direct investment of oil producing countries in African. The result from the model shows that at 1% significant level, regulatory quality has a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment. The coefficient of 7.157 shows that a unit increase in regulatory quality of an economy will lead to a 7.157 unit increase in foreign direct investment of oil producing countries in Africa.

Therefore, this shows that it is an immense responsibility of the governments in Oil producing countries in Africa to ensure that quality regulations are in place and the economy is operated within those regulations and policies to boost economic development improve social welfare and attract foreign investments (Rodrik, 1999). The result is in line with Moe (1990) who argued on the changes in the quality of government regulatory effectiveness and governance practices affect the direction of FDI inflows. Their study showed that deterioration in the effectiveness and enforcement of investment regulations (such as price controls and excessive regulation in foreign trade and business development) has an adverse effect on FDI inflows.

This means strengthening of an economies regulatory quality has positive effect on FDI inflows. Again this is consistent with Glass and Saggi (2002) who gave emphasis to three main reasons why regulatory qualities are essential increasing the inflow of FDI and attracting foreign investors. They mentioned how efficient and able state institutions run within a strong regulatory framework will boost production to attract investment, how good governance and proper regulations will lead to inefficient institutions associated with corruption and mismanagement and finally how the risk and certainty of FDI will positively impact the economy and possibility of attaining foreign investments.

### **Government Effectiveness and FDI inflows**

Government effectiveness also had a very significant positive effect on foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa. The result from Model 4 in Table 4 shows that at 1% significant level, government effectiveness also has a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment.

The coefficient of 7.295 portrays that a unit increase in government effectiveness of a country can lead to a 7.295 unit increase in foreign direct investment on African oil producing countries. This means that Government effectiveness plays a major role in contributing to the inflow of foreign investments to oil producing countries in Africa. This result is consistent with Adhikary (2011), who argues that government effectiveness indicator is a determining factor of economic development through the inflow of FDI. Moreover, it is in linw with Montinola and Jackman (2002) who stated that the ability to attract foreign investments does not depend on the nature of existing policies but also the nature of the government. Similarly, the ability of the host country government to have a strong and favorable tax mechanism and suitable rental policies will attract FDI (Gerring, et al., 2005). Finally the results is in line with Blaydes and Kayser (2011) who argues that effective and favorable governance infrastructure is one of the most important factors to attract the inflow of FDI and increase the outflow. They added that investment in governance infrastructure will not only attract foreign capital, but create favorable conditions for domestic and foreign Multinational Companies (MNCs) in small and developing nations (Murphy et al., 1991).

## **Control of Corruption and FDI inflows**

The result from Model 5 in Table 4 shows that at 1% significance level, control of corruption has a significant negative effect on foreign direct investment to oil producing countries in Africa. The coefficient of 7.455 highlights that a unit increases in the control of corruption of an oil producing economy can lead to a 7.455 unit decrease in foreign direct investment. There are some studies that posits that corruption actual increases FDI inflows. This

result is consistent with Quazi et al. (2014) who described this phenomenon as the helping hand hypothesis. They stated that corruption can allow investors to avoid bureaucratic red tape. Paying off key officials might also mean quicker entry into a country and less stringent regulatory policies on multinational companies. They further argued that Corruption helps to supplement low wages in developing countries, which allows multinational companies to keep their tax burdens low and contributes to growth. They concluded by saying, corruption can smooth the economic system in the presence of weak regulations to create a Pareto Optimal outcome. This result is also consistent with Houston (2007) who posits that while there are restrictive effects of corruption, there tends to be expansionary economic effects in countries with weak institutions. Thus trying to eliminate corruption in oil producing countries in Africa where it plays an expansionary role can be a costly battle and will be resisted. The study thus proposes improving fundamental governance structures as a more appropriate target. This doesn't reject that corruption is costly, but instead proposes that corruption might be a benefit for weaker institutions.

However, the result is inconsistent with Quazi et al. (2014). They posited that corruption acts as a grabbing hand to reduce FDI inflows. The authors explain that there are multiple ways that this occurs. Corruption creates inefficiencies and distortions, which raise transaction costs for investors. It also creates a risk of endangering brand goodwill in cases when a scandal occurs. Finally, corruption negatively affects other important determinants of FDI, like economic growth, productivity of public investment, quality of infrastructure, education, and healthcare services. Also the result is

inconsistent with Al-Sadig (2009) who found that corruption level in the host country has an adverse effect on FDI inflows.

## **Political Stability and FDI inflows**

Political stability also had a positive significant effect on foreign direct investment as presented in the results from model 6 as shown in Table 5. At 1% significant level, the results from model 6 showed that political stability had coefficients of 3.248. Political stability is the durability and integrity of a current government regime. This is determined based on the amount of violence and terrorism expressed in the nation and by citizens associated with the state. The result is in line with Lucas (1990) who argued that political instability could limit capital flows. Investments in many oil-rich countries are exposed to large political risks, so FDI inflows to these countries are limited. The lack of democracy boosts social tensions that increase the likelihood of bringing severe political and social crisis to a country (Guerin & Manzocchi, 2009). Similarly, the results is in line with that of Harms et. al., (2002) and Kucera et. al., (2017) who point out a positive relationship between democracy and FDI. In contrast, however studies such as Adam et. al. (2007) and Paniagua et al. (2014) found a negative effect of democracy on FDI.

## Rule of Law and FDI Inflows

Rule of law had a positive significant effect on foreign direct investment as presented in the results from model 7. At 1% significant level, the results from model 7 showed that political stability and rule of law had coefficient of 6.930. The coefficient indicates that a unit increase in rule of law can lead to a 6.930 unit increase in FDI inflows.

The rule of law addresses the interactions between citizens and the institutions that assist in governing these interactions. Institutions like the judiciary should exhibit characteristics such as fairness and efficiency in its delivery which plays an important role in facilitating sound and fair observance of the rule of law, including the maintenance of law and order, limitations on government power to interfere in business activities and trading environment, and impartial enforcement of contracts.

Many scholars and policy makers cite the rule of law as a key factor in a number of different positive outcomes. In particular, policy makers point to the important role the rule of law plays in facilitating FDI and economic development. Thus the result is consistent with Staats and Biglaiser (2011) who supports that in general, a strong rule of law relates positively to FDI. In the context of FDI, rule of law reduces uncertainty, allows for long-term planning, and therefore increases FDI. Governments that establish independent courts commit to protecting investment against both citizens and the government itself and this will attract FDI inflows. Investors value contract and property rights as a way to protect their investment from government expropriation and from business partners reneging on agreements (Li & Resnick, 2003). Protections of the other rights mean a country is more stable, a more educated work force, and that the host country government that expresses concern for their citizens' well-being.

These are all conditions investors find attractive and thus attracts more FDI inflows. Comparably, this result is consistent with Henisz (2000) argued that democracies are actually better at committing to investor-friendly policies and protecting property and contract rights over the long term to attract FDI.

Results of the control variables for the models assessing the effects institutional structures and foreign direct investment of oil producing countries in African

All the models in Table 4 controls for three consisting macroeconomic variables including Trade Openness, Gross capital formation (investment rate) and inflation. In model 1, Trade Openness had a positive effect on foreign direct investment. At 1% significance level, a percentage increase in Trade openness will lead to 5.5% increase foreign direct investment. Moreover, trade openness acquired a significant coefficient of 0.009 at 5% significant level in model 2 and this means that a percentage increase in trade openness will lead to 0.9% increase in foreign direct investment. Comparable results were obtained in models 3-7 due to the fact that trade openness had a positive effect on foreign direct investment. Even though all the coefficients were significant, its importance signifies very little indications to foreign direct investment. This is in line with the findings of Kucera et. al., (2017) and Harms et. al., (2002) who documents that trade openness plays a direct role in influencing FDI.

The rate of investment as measured by gross capital formation had a positive effect on ease of access to loans. At 1% significance level, a percentage increase in gross capital formation will lead to 33.2% increase foreign direct investment. Also, gross capital formation had a significant coefficient of 0.303 at 1% significant level in model which means a percentage increase in gross capital formation will lead to 30.3% increase in foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa. Similar results were obtained in models 3-7 since gross capital formation had a positive effect

on foreign direct investment in oil producing economies. Similarly, Kucera et. al., (2017) and Harms et. al., (2002) also document that gross capital formation positively influence FDI.

Inflation is persistent increase in the general price level of goods and services in a country at a given period of time. With respect to model 1, inflation had a coefficient of -0.050 at 1% significant level. This means that a percentage increase in inflation will lead to 5% decline in foreign direct investment. Again, inflation acquired a coefficient of -0.011 at 5% significant level in model 2 and this means that a percentage increase in inflation will reduce foreign direct investment by 1.1%. Related results were obtained in models 3-7 due to the fact that inflation had a negative significant effect on foreign direct investment in oil producing economies all those models. This is basically due to the crowding out effect of inflation. Similarly, (Noorbakhsh, Paloni, & Youssef, 2001; Blomstrom & Kokko, 2003) documents that inflation and FDI has an inverse relationship.

# Diagnostics on the models assessing the effects of institutional structures on foreign direct investment in oil producing countries in Africa

According to Mileva (2007) the null hypothesis for the test for AR (2) in first differences should not be rejected. For all the models in Table 5, at 5 % significance level, the p-values of the AR (2) process showed no rejection of the null hypothesis of no autocorrelation. This shows that there is an absence of autocorrelation in all the models. The Sargan and Hansen test has the null hypothesis that the instruments are exogenous. The results presented in table 5 shows that we reject this null hypothesis. That we fail to reject the null hypothesis and conclude that all the instruments are valid.

## **Chapter Summary**

The chapter presented descriptive analysis of the variables used in the study. The descriptive analysis revealed that on the average, oil producing African economies have a low level of institutional quality and some gaps in foreign direct investment. The chapter went on further to discuss the separate effects of each of the institutional structure indicators on foreign direct investment in oil producing African economies. From the discussions, it is evident in data that institutional quality or structures enhances foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### Introduction

This chapter presents the major findings obtained from conducting the entire study. The chapter also presents a summary of the findings, conclusions, recommendations as well as the suggestions for further research.

## **Summary of the Research**

The essence of foreign direct investment to oil producing countries cannot be underestimated. It contributes immensely to host economies' economic growth and it also forms greater proportion of host economies' share of world capital flows. Owing to the various benefits derived from FDI inflows, there are a number of theoretical literatures that explains why there exist FDI gaps among sectors, economies and even regions. Other reviews highlights that there is a potential for oil producing African economies to close these foreign direct investment gaps. Literature suggests that Location advantage is the advantage found in the location where the firm is seeking to engage FDI. Empirical studies have examined the factors in host countries that attract firms to engage in FDI. Some of the factors include large market size, sound infrastructure, abundance of economically useful natural resources, trade openness, human capital, institutional structures, among many others.

Although literature suggests that these factors could enhance the foreign direct investment, there is no empirical study that examines institutional structures thoroughly in the context of oil producing countries. This study thus employed institutional structures as a driving tool or attracting force for foreign direct investment in oil producing countries. The literature

review provided a supporting theory as well as empirical evidence on the relationship institutional structures and foreign direct investment in the context of oil producing countries in Africa. Specifically the Eclectic Paradigm theory was employed in the study.

This study was based on the positivism research paradigm and the quantitative research approach. The study also employed the explanatory research design to estimate the various models. In addition, the study included only 17 out of a total of 54 countries in Africa due to fact those selected are oil producing countries and this was essentially due to data availability. Furthermore, the study developed a baseline model to examine the effects of institutional quality on foreign direct investment. The study employed the Generalized Method of Moment estimation technique to estimate the model.

# **Summary of Findings**

The first objective of the study was to investigate the relationship between Corruption and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa. The second objective was to examine the relationship between Government Effectiveness and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa. The third objective was to assess the relationship between Regulatory Quality and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa. The fourth objective was to examine the relationship between Rule of Law and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa. The fifth objective was to assess the relationship between Voice and Accountability and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa and finally the sixth objective was to investigate the relationship between Political Stability and FDI in oil producing countries in Africa. The summary of the findings on these objectives are summarized in the table below:

**Table 5: Summary of Results on the Hypothesis** 

Hypotheses	Confirmation
H1: There is a positive effect of voice and	Fail to Reject
accountability on FDI in oil producing countries in	
Africa.	
H2: There is a positive effect of regulatory quality	Fail to Reject
on FDI in oil producing countries in Africa.	
H3: There is a positive effect government	Fail to Reject
effectiveness on FDI in oil producing countries in	
Africa.	
H4: There is a positive effect of control of corruption	Fail to Reject
on FDI in oil producing countries in Africa.	
H5: There is a positive effect of political stability on	Fail to Reject
FDI in oil producing countries in Africa	
H6: There is a positive effect of rule of Law on FDI	Fail to Reject
in oil producing countries in Africa.	

Source: Field Data, Armah(2018)

From the results on the first objective, strong evidence is found that voice and accountability had a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment in oil producing in Africa. Also, based on the second objective, indicated that regulatory quality attracts to foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa. The results on the third objective indicated that government effectiveness was found to have a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa. This signifies that maintaining high government effectiveness is necessary for foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa.

With reference to the results on the fourth objective, corruption had a significant negative effect on foreign direct investment of the sample of oil producing economies in Africa. This implies that control of corruption in oil

producing economies will rather decrease foreign direct investment. Results on the fifth objective indicated political stability had a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa. Finally the results on the sixth objective indicated that rule of law had a significant positive effect on foreign direct investment in oil producing economies in Africa. This implies that maintenance of rule of law in oil producing economies will increase foreign direct investment.

#### Conclusion

In relation to the first hypothesis, the study concludes that voice and accountability will be required to enhance the foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa. The second hypothesis is accepted and the conclusion is that regulatory quality will be needed to increase foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa. Also, the third hypothesis is accepted and the conclusion that increment in government effectiveness will be required to increase foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa.

Based on the results, the fourth hypothesis is rejected and the conclusion on it is that corruption is required to increase foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa. The conclusion on the fifth hypothesis is that political stability is necessary to foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa. Finally, the sixth hypothesis is accepted and the conclusion is that rule of law is needed to increase foreign direct investment of oil producing economies in Africa.

#### Recommendations

In relation to the purpose of the study, it is recommended that oil producing economies should continue to institute economic policies that enhance or promote institutional quality. Results from the first objective indicate that oil producing economies in Africa also need to make available information about the performance of the government in order to enhance their voice and accountability to attract more FDI inflows. In relation to the second objective, regulatory quality in the oil producing economies should be enhanced. This will mean that there will be more labour freedom, more business freedom, and high monetary freedom which will in turn increase financial development. Based on the third objective, government should institute economic policies to increase its effectiveness. Increment in government effectiveness can be achieved by government orienting to more closely matching services with citizen preferences, and moving governments closer to the people they are intended to serve, thus ensuring greater accountability of the public sector.

Results from the fifth objective indicate that political stability is needed in oil producing economies in Africa. This will mean that for oil producing economies in Africa to strengthen their FDI inflows, they require stable political scene is one where the ruling government is favored by the population and does not experience strong indicators of social unrest and economies should have the capacity to make their representatives liable for their performance and actions and reward or discipline them when required. Based on the results of the sixth objective, rule of law should be improved.

Improvement in rule of law will mean that government will put in measures to enhance property rights, judicial effectiveness, and government integrity.

## **Suggestions for Future Research**

First of all, other studies can extend this current study by examining the effect or role of economic freedom on foreign direct investment that have not yet been employed in extant literature. It is therefore suggested that further research can employ economic freedom indicators such as government size, regulatory efficiency and open markets to find its effect on foreign direct investment. Finally, further studies could employ other estimation techniques than those employed in this study.



#### REFERENCES

- Abbasi, M. (2004). Determinants of foreign Direct Investment and it's restriction in Iran, faculty of economics, University of Tehran
- Abor, J. (2005). The effect of capital structure on profitability: An empirical analysis of listed firms in Ghana. *The Journal of Risk Finance*, 6 (5), 37 48.
- Acemoglu, D., & Robinson, J. A. (2008). Persistence of power, elites, and institutions. *American Economic Review*, 98(1), 267-93.
- Acheampong, P., & Osei, V. (2014). Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) Inflows into Ghana: Should the Focus Be on Infrastructure or Natural Resources? Short-Run and Long-Run Analyses. *International Journal of Financial Research*, 5(1), 42.
- Adam, A., & Filippaios, F. (2007). Foreign direct investment and civil liberties: A new perspective. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 23(4), 1038-1052.
- Adam, A. M., & Gyamfi, E. N. (2015). Time-varying world integration of the African stock markets: a Kalman filter approach. *Investment management and financial innovations*, (12, Iss. 3 (contin.)), 175-181.
- Adhikary, B. K. (2011). FDI, trade openness, capital formation, and economic growth in Bangladesh: a linkage analysis. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6(1), 16.
- Aitken, B. J. & Harrison, A. E. (1999). Do domestic firms benefit from direct foreign investment? Evidence from Venezuela. *American economic review*, 605-618.

- Aitken, B. J. & Harrison, A. E. (1999). Do domestic firms benefit from direct foreign investment? Evidence from Venezuela. *American economic review*, 605-618.
- Aitken, B., Hanson, G. H. & Harrison, A. E. (1997). Spillovers, foreign investment, and export behavior. *Journal of International economics*, 43, 103-132.
- Albritton, R. B., & Bureekul, T. (2008). Developing democracy under a new constitution in Thailand. *How East Asians view democracy*, 114-138.
- Alesina, A., & Perotti, R. (1996). Income distribution, political instability, and investment. *European economic review*, 40(6), 1203-1228.
- Al-Sadig, A. (2009). The effects of corruption on FDI inflows. *Cato J.*, 29, 267.
- Annaek, J.(2007). Foreign Capital Inflows an Development in Less Developed Countries. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Arellano, M., & Bond, S. (1991). Some tests of specification for panel data:

  Monte Carlo evidence and an application to employment equations. *The review of economic studies*, 58(2), 277-297.
- Arellano, M., & Bover, O. (1995). Another look at the instrumental variable estimation of error-components models. *Journal of econometrics*, 68(1), 29-51.
- Asiedu, E. (2002). On the determinants of foreign direct investment to developing countries: is Africa different?. *World development*, 30 (1), 107-119.

- Asiedu, E. (2006). Foreign direct investment in Africa: The role of natural resources, market size, government policy, institutions and political instability. *World economy*, 29 (1), 63-77.
- Asiedu, E., & Lien, D. (2004). Capital controls and foreign direct investment.

  World development, 32 (3), 479-490.
- Asiedu, E., & Lien, D. (2011). Democracy, foreign direct investment and natural resources. *Journal of international economics*, 84 (1), 99-111.
- Ayanwale, A. B. (2007). FDI and Economic Growth: Evidence From Nigeria.

  African Economic Research Consortium (AERC)
- Bailey, D., & Driffield, N. (2002). Hymer and uneven development revisited: foreign direct investment and regional inequalities. *Contributions to Political Economy*, 21 (1), 55-68
- Bannaga, A., Gangi, Y., Abdrazak, R., & Al-Fakhry, B. (2013). The effects of good governance on foreign direct investment inflows in Arab countries. *Applied Financial Economics*, 23 (15), 1239-1247.
- Barnard, C. (1938). 1.(1938). The functions of the executive.
- Barrell, R. & Pain, N. (1997). Foreign Direct Investment, technological change, and economic growth within Europe. *The Economic Journal*, 107, 1770-1786.
- Batra, G. & Tan, H. W. (2002). Inter-firm linkages and productivity growth in Malaysian manufacturing. *International Finance Corporation, World Bank, Washington, DC*.
- Bénassy-Quéré, A., Coupet, M., & Mayer, T. (2007). Institutional determinants of foreign direct investment. *World economy*, *30* (5), 764-782.

- Biglaiser, G., & DeRouen Jr, K. (2006). Economic reforms and inflows of foreign direct investment in Latin America. *Latin American research* review, 51-75.
- Blanton, S. L., & Blanton, R. G. (2007). What attracts foreign investors? An examination of human rights and foreign direct investment. *The Journal of Politics*, 69 (1), 143-155.
- Blaydes, L., & Kayser, M. A. (2011). Counting calories: democracy and distribution in the developing world. *International Studies Quarterly*, 55 (4), 887-908.
- Blomström, M. & Kokko, A. (1996). How Foreign Investment Affects Host Countries. *World Bank policy research working paper*, (1745).
- Blomström, M. (1986). Foreign investment and productive efficiency: the case of Mexico. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 97-110.
- Blomstrom, M. (1992). Host country benefits of foreign investment. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Blomstrom, M., & Kokko, A. (2003). Human capital and inward FDI.
- Blundell, R., & Bond, S. (1998). Initial conditions and moment restrictions in dynamic panel data models. *Journal of econometrics*, 87(1), 115-143.
- Borensztein, E., De Gregorio, J. & Lee, J.-W. (1998). How does foreign direct investment affect economic growth? *Journal of international Economics*, 45, 115-135.
- Boswell, N. & Richardson, P. (2003). Anti-corruption: Unshackling economic development: Commentary. *Economic Perspectives*, 8 (2): 16–18.

- Bosworth, B. P., Collins, S. M. & Reinhart, C. M. (1999). Capital flows to developing economies: implications for saving and investment. Brookings papers on economic activity, 1999, 143-180.
- Brimble, P. & Sherman, J. (1999). The Broader Impacts of Foreign Direct

  Investment on Economic Development in Thailand: Corporate

  Responses; Paper Prepared for High Level Roundtable on FDI and Its

  Impacts on Poverty Alleviation, December 1998, Brooker Group.
- Brooks, D. H., Hasan, R., Lee, J.-W., Son, H. H. & Zhuang, J. (2010). Closing development gaps: challenges and policy options. *Asian Development Review*, 27, 1í28.
- Busse, M., & Hefeker, C. (2007). Political risk, institutions and foreign direct investment. *European journal of political economy*, 23 (2), 397-415.
- Cameron, K. S., & Whetten, D. A. (1981). Perceptions of organizational effectiveness over organizational life cycles. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 525-544.
- Caves, R. E., & Caves, R. E. (1996). Multinational enterprise and economic analysis. Cambridge university press.
- Cheema, G. S. (2007). Devolution with accountability: learning from good practices. *Decentralizing Governance: Emerging Concepts and Practices*, 170-188.
- De la Croix, D. & Delavallade, C. (2006). *Growth, public investment and corruption with failing institutions*, Verona, Italy: Society for the Study of Economic Inequality. Working Paper 2007-61
- De Mello, L. R. (1999). Foreign direct investment-led growth: evidence from time series and panel data. *Oxford Economic Papers*, 51, 133-151.

- DeMuth, C., & Ginsburg, D. (1986). White House Reviexu of Agency Rulemaking, 99 Harv. L. Rev, 1075.
- Desbordes, R., & Verardi, V. (2017). Foreign direct investment and democracy: a robust fixed effects approach to a complex relationship. *Pacific economic review*, 22 (1), 43-82.
- Diamond, L. (1992), "Economic development and democracy reconsidered", in Diamond, L. and Marks, G. (Eds), Reexamining Democracy, Sage, Newbury Park, CA, pp. 93-139.
- Driffield, N. & Girma, S. (2003). Regional Foreign Direct Investment and Wage Spillovers: Plant Level Evidence from the UK Electronics Industry. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 65, 453-474.
- Drucker, P.F. (1994). "The age of social transformation", Atlantic Monthly, November, pp. 53-80.
- Dunning, J. H. (1988). The eclectic paradigm of international production: A restatement and some possible extensions. *Journal of international business studies*, 19 (1), 1-31
- Dunning, J. H. (2001). The eclectic (OLI) paradigm of international production: past, present and future. *International journal of the economics of business*, 8 (2), 173-190.
- Dutta, N. & Roy, S. (2009). "The impact of foreign direct investment on press freedom", KYKLOS, Vol. 62 No. 2, pp. 239-57
- Easterly, W. (2006). Reliving the 1950s: the big push, poverty traps, and takeoffs in economic development. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 11 (4), 289-318.

- Epstein, R. A. (1995). *Simple rules for a complex world*. Harvard University Press.
- Gawad, G. M. A. & Muramalla, V. S. S. R. (2013). Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) and Its Effects on Oil, Gas And Refinery Production and Their Exports: An Applied Study. *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development*, 4, 21-35.
- Gerring, J., Bond, P., Barndt, W. T., & Moreno, C. (2005). Democracy and economic growth: A historical perspective. *World politics*, *57* (3), 323-364.
- Glass, A. & Saggi, K., (2002). Intellectual Property Rights and Foreign Direct Investment. *Journal of International Economics*, 56 (2), pp. 387-410.
- Globerman, S. (1979). Foreign direct investment and 'spillover' efficiency benefits in Canadian manufacturing industries. *Canadian journal of economics*, 42-56.
- Globerman, S., & Shapiro, D. (2003). Governance infrastructure and US foreign direct investment. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 34 (1), 19-39.
- Gorodnichenko, Y., Svejnar, J. & Terrell, K. (2007). When does FDI have positive spillovers? Evidence from 17 emerging market economies. IZA Discussion Papers.
- Greenaway, D., Sousa, N. & Wakelin, K. (2004). Do domestic firms learn to export from multinationals? *European Journal of Political Economy*, 20, 1027-1043.
- Greider, W. (1998). One World, Ready or Not: The Manic Logic of Global Capitalism, Touchstone, New York, NY.

- Guerin, S. S., & Manzocchi, S. (2009). Political regime and FDI from advanced to emerging countries. *Review of World economics*, *145* (1), 75-91.
- Gupta, S., Davoodi, H. & Alonso-Terme, R. (1998). Does Corruption Affect Income Inequality and Poverty?, Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. Working Paper 98/79
- Gupta, S., Verhoeven, M. & Tiongson, T. (1999). *Does higher government spending buy better results in education and health care?*, Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. Working Paper 99/21
- Habib, M. D. & Sarwar, S. (2013). Impact of Foreign Direct Investment on Employment Level In Pakistan: A Time Series Analysis. *Journal of Law, Policy and Globalization*, 10, 46-55.
- Habib, M., & Zurawicki, L. (2002). Corruption and foreign direct investment. *Journal of international business studies*, *33* (2), 291-307.
- Habib, M., & Zurawicki, L. (2002). Corruption and foreign direct investment.

  Journal of international business studies, 33 (2), 291-307.
- Haddad, M. & Harrison, A. (1993). Are there positive spillovers from direct foreign investment?: Evidence from panel data for Morocco. *Journal of development economics*, 42, 51-74.
- Hallebone, E., & Priest, J. (2008). Business and management research: paradigms and practices. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Harms, P., & Ursprung, H. W. (2002). Do civil and political repression really boost foreign direct investments?. *Economic inquiry*, 40 (4), 651-663.
- Harms, P., & Ursprung, H. W. (2002). Do civil and political repression really boost foreign direct investments? *Economic inquiry*, 40 (4), 651-663.

- Haskel, J. E., Pereira, S. C. & Slaughter, M. J. (2007). Does inward foreign direct investment boost the productivity of domestic firms? *The Review* of Economics and Statistics, 89, 482-496.
- Hayek, F. (1944). The Road to Serfdom. Chicago: Univ.
- Hayek, F.A. (1960). *The Constitution of Liberty*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Heclo, H. (1988). The in-and-outer system: A critical assessment. *Political Science Quarterly*, 103 (1), 37-56.
- Henisz, W. J. (2000). The institutional environment for multinational investment. *The Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization*, 16 (2), 334-364.
- Hirst, P. (1997). "The global economy: myth and realities", International Affairs, Vol. 73 No. 3, pp. 409-25.
- Horn, M. J., & Shepsle, K. A. (1989). Commentary on" Administrative arrangements and the political control of agencies": Administrative process and organizational form as legislative responses to agency costs. *Virginia Law Review*, 499-508.
- Houston, D. A. (2007). Can corruption ever improve and economy. *Cato J.*, 27, 325.
- Hunter, J. & Shah, A. (1998). Applying a simple measure of good governance to the debate on fiscal decentralization, The World Bank.. Policy Research Working Paper Washington, DC
- Jensen, N. (2008). Political risk, democratic institutions, and foreign direct investment. *The Journal of Politics*, 70 (4), 1040-1052.

- Kareem, R. O. (2015). Employment level and economic growth of Nigeria.

  \*Journal of Sustainable Development Studies, 8 (1).
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A. & Zoido-Lobaton, P. (1999). Governance matters,Washington, DC: World Bank, Development Economics ResearchGroup.
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (2011). The worldwide governance indicators: methodology and analytical issues. Hague Journal on the Rule of Law, 3 (2), 220-246.
- Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (2008). Governance matters VII:

  Aggregate and individual governance indicators, 1996-2007. World

  Bank policy research working paper, (4654).
- Kim, H. (2010). Political stability and foreign direct investment. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 2 (3), 59-71.
- Kostevc, C., Redek, T. & Susjan, A., (2007). Foreign Direct Investment and

  Institutional Environment in Transition Economies. Transition Studies

  Review, 14 (1), pp. 40-54.
- Kucera, D. (2002). Core labour standards and foreign direct investment.

  International Labour Review, 141 (1-2), 31-69.
- Kucera, D., & Principi, M. (2017). Rights, governance, and foreign direct investment: an industry-level assessment. *International Review of Applied Economics*, 31 (4), 468-494.
- Kummell, G. (1998). "Democratization in Eastern Europe: the interaction of internal and external factors: an attempt at systematization", East European Quarterly, Vol. 32, pp. 243-67.

- Kurul, Z., & Yalta, A. Y. (2017). Relationship between institutional factors and FDI flows in developing countries: New evidence from dynamic panel estimation. *Economies*, 5(2), 17.
- Law, S. H., & Azman-Saini, W. N. W. (2012). Institutional quality, governance, and financial development. *Economics of Governance*, 13(3), 217-236.
- Lederman, D., Loayza, N. V., & Soares, R. R. (2005). Accountability and corruption: Political institutions matter. *Economics & politics*, 17 (1), 1-35.
- Lee, H. & Tan, H. (2006). Technology Transfer and Economic Growth in the ASEAN Region. *Journal of the Asia Pacific Economy*, 11 (4), pp. 394-410.
- Li, Q. & Reuveny, R. (2003). "Economic globalization and democracy: an empirical analysis", British Journal of Political Science, Vol. 33 No. 1, pp. 29-54.
- Li, Q., & Resnick, A. (2003). Reversal of fortunes: Democratic institutions and foreign direct investment inflows to developing countries.

  International organization, 57(1), 175-211.
- Lim, E.-G. (2001). Determinants of and the relation between foreign direct investment and growth: A summary of the recent literature, International Monetary Fund.
- Lin, P. & Saggi, K. (2007). Multinational firms, exclusivity, and backward linkages. *Journal of International Economics*, 71, 206-220.
- Lucas, R. E. (1988). On the mechanics of economic development. *Journal of monetary economics*, 22, 3-42.

- Lucas, R. E. (1990). Why doesn't capital flow from rich to poor countries?.

  American Economic Review, 80 (2), 92-96.
- Maleki, M. (2003). "The effects of oil price changes on OPEC economy", MS thesis, Faculty of Economics, University of Tarbiat Modarres
- Mallampally, P. & Sauvant Foreign K. P. (1999). Direct Investment in Developing Countries. *Finance & Development*, 36, 34-37.
- Martinez-Zarzoso, I. (2003). Gravity model: An application to trade between regional blocs. *Atlantic Economic Journal*, *31* (2), 174-187.
- Masuku, M. B., & Dlamini, T. S. (2009). Determinants of foreign direct investment inflows in Swaziland. *Journal of Development and Agricultural economics*, 1 (5), 177-184.
- Mehlum, H., Moene, K., & Torvik, R. (2006). Institutions and the resource curse. *The economic journal*, *116* (508), 1-20.
- Méon, P. G., & Sekkat, K. (2004). Does the quality of institutions limit the MENA's integration in the world economy?. *World Economy*, 27 (9), 1475-1498.
- Meyer, W. (1998). Human Rights and International Political Economy in

  Third World Nations: Multinational Corporations, Foreign Aid and

  Repression, Praeger Publishers, Westport, CT.
- Milner, H.V. & Mukherjee, B. (2009). "Democratization and economic globalization", Annual Review of Political Science, Vol. 12, pp. 163-81.
- Moe, T. M. (1990). Political institutions: The neglected side of the story. *JL Econ & Org.*, 6, 213.

- Montiel, P., & Reinhart, C. (2001). The dynamics of capital movements to emerging economies during the 1990s. *Short-term capital flows and economic crises*, 3-28.
- Montinola, G. R., & Jackman, R. W. (2002). Sources of corruption: A cross-country study. *British Journal of Political Science*, 32 (1), 147-170.
- Moran, J. (1996). "Contradictions between economic liberalization and democratization: the case of South Korea", Democratization, Vol. 3

  No. 4, pp. 459-90.
- Moran, T. (2003). FDI and development: what is the role of international rules and regulations? *Transnational Corporations*, 12, 1-44.
- Morck, R., Wolfenzon, D. & Yeung, B. (2005). "Corporate governance, economic entrenchment, and growth", Journal of Economic Literature, Vol. 43 No. 3, pp. 655-720.
- Murphy, K. M., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1991). The allocation of talent:

  Implications for growth. *The quarterly journal of economics*, 106 (2), 503-530.
- Neumayer, E., & De Soysa, I. (2006). Globalization and the right to free association and collective bargaining: An empirical analysis. *World development*, 34 (1), 31-49.
- Nguyen, T. X. & Xing, Y. (2006). Foreign Direct Investment and Exports: the Experiences of Vietnam. *Economics & management series*, 6, 1-18.
- Niskanen, W. (1971). Bureaucracy and representative democracy. *Chicago* und New York.

- Noorbakhsh, F., Paloni, A., & Youssef, A. (2001). Human capital and FDI inflows to developing countries: New empirical evidence. *World development*, 29 (9), 1593-1610.
- O'donnell, G. (1978). Reflections on the patterns of change in the bureaucratic-authoritarian state. *Latin American Research Review*, 13 (1), 3-38.
- OECD (2002). Foreign Direct Investment for Development: Maximizing Benefits, Minimizing Costs.
- OPEC. (2017). OPEC and demand response to crude oil prices. *Energy Economics*, 66, 238-246.
- Okafor, G. (2015). Locational determinants of US outward FDI into sub-Saharan Africa. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 49 (1), 187-205.
- Olson, M. (1993). Dictatorship, democracy, and development. *American* political science review, 87 (3), 567-576.
- Oneal, J. R. (1988). The rationality of decision making during international crises. *Polity*, 20 (4), 598-622.
- Oneal, J. R. (1994). The affinity of foreign investors for authoritarian regimes.

  Political Research Quarterly, 47 (3), 565-588.
- Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (2017). Annual Report.

  Austria: Grasl Druck & Neue Medien GmbH
- Osborne, D. & T. Gaebler (1992). Reinventing Government: How the Entrepreneurial Spirit is Transforming the Public Sector.
- Oster, E. (2009). Does increased access increase equality? Gender and child health investments in India. *Journal of development Economics*, 89 (1), 62-76.

- Ozturk, I. (2007). Foreign direct investment-growth nexus: a review of the recent literature. *International Journal of Applied Econometrics and Quantitative Studies*, 4, 79-98.
- Quazi, R., Vemuri, V., & Soliman, M. (2014). Impact of corruption on foreign direct investment in Africa. *International Business Research*, 7 (4), 1.
- Paniagua, J., & Sapena, J. (2014). Is FDI doing good? A golden rule for FDI ethics. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(5), 807-812.
- Rachlinski, J. J., & Farina, C. R. (2001). Cognitive psychology and optimal government design. *Cornell L. Rev.*, 87, 549.
- Rainey, H. G. & Steinbauer, P. (1999). Galloping elephants: Developing elements of a theory of effective government organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 9 (1): 1–32.
- Rainey, H. G., & Steinbauer, P. (1999). Galloping elephants: Developing elements of a theory of effective government organizations. *Journal of public administration research and theory*, 9 (1), 1-32..
- Rajkumar, A.S. & Swaroop, V. (2008). Public spending and outcomes: Does governance matter?. *Journal of Development Economics*, 86: 96–111.
- Ray, S. (2012). Impact of foreign direct investment on economic growth in India: A co integration analysis. *Advances in Information Technology* and Management, 2 (1), 187-201.
- Raz, J. (1979). *The Authority of Law*: Essays on Law and Morality . Oxford ;New York: Clarendon Press ;Oxford University Press.
- Rivera-Batiz, L. A. & Romer, P. M. (1991). Economic integration and endogenous growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106, 531-555.

- Rodrik, D. (2008). One economics, many recipes: globalization, institutions, and economic growth. Princeton University Press.
- Rodrik, D., (1999). Where did all the growth go? External shocks, social conflict and growth collapses. *Journal of Economic Growth*, Issue 4, pp. 385-412.
- Romer, P. M. (1986). Increasing returns and long-run growth. *The journal of political economy*, 1002-1037.
- Rondinelli, D. A. (2007). Globalization of sustainable development: Principles and practices in transnational corporations. *Multinational Business Review*.
- Roodman, D. (2006, July). How to Do xtabond2. In North American Stata

  Users' Group Meetings 2006 (No. 8). Stata Users Group.
- Root, F. R., & Ahmed, A. A. (1979). Empirical determinants of manufacturing direct foreign investment in developing countries. *Economic development and cultural change*, 27 (4), 751-767.
- Saunders, M.N.K, Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2012). Research methods for business students (6th ed.). New York: Pearson.
- Scharpf, F. (1991), *Crisis and Choice in European Social Democracy*, Cornell University Press, New York, NY.
- Schneider, F., & Frey, B. S. (1985). Economic and political determinants of foreign direct investment. *World development*, *13* (2), 161-175.
- Schneider, F., & Frey, B. S. (1985). Economic and political determinants of foreign direct investment. *World development*, *13* (2), 161-175.

- Shahbaz, M., & Rahman, M. M. (2010). Foreign capital inflows-growth nexus and role of domestic financial sector: an ARDL co-integration approach for Pakistan. *Journal of Economic Research*, 15 (3), 207-231.
- Singh, H., & Jun, K. W. (1999). Some new evidence on determinants of foreign direct investment in developing countries. The World Bank.
- Solow, R. M. (1956). A contribution to the theory of economic growth. *The* quarterly journal of economics, 65-94.
- Spence, D. B., & Cross, F. (2000). A public choice case for the administrative state. *Geo. LJ*, 89, 97.
- Staats, J. L., & Biglaiser, G. (2011). The effects of judicial strength and rule of law on portfolio investment in the developing world. *Social Science Quarterly*, 92 (3), 609-630.
- Steers, R. M. (1975). Problems in the measurement of organizational effectiveness. *Administrative science quarterly*, 546-558.
- Stigler, G. J. (1971). The theory of economic regulation. The Bell journal of economics and management science, 3-21.
- Sunstein, C. R. (1984). Naked preferences and the Constitution. *Columbia Law Review*, 84 (7), 1689-1732.
- Swan, T. W. (1956). Economic growth and capital accumulation. *Economic record*, 32, 334-361.
- Tsai, P. L. (1994). Determinants of foreign direct investment and its impact on economic growth. *Journal of economic development*, 19 (1), 137-163.
- Tuman, J. P., & Emmert, C. F. (2004). The political economy of US foreign direct investment in Latin America: a reappraisal. *Latin American Research Review*, 9-28.

- Tuman, J. P., & Emmert, C. F. (2004). The political economy of US foreign direct investment in Latin America: a reappraisal. *Latin American Research Review*, 9-28.
- UNCTAD (1999) World Investment Report: Foreign Direct Investment and the challenge of investment
- UNCTAD (1999). World Investment Report 1999 Foreign Direct Investment and the Challenge of Development. New York and Geneva: United Nation
- UNCTAD (2005). World Investment Report 2005. Transnational Corporations and the Internationalization of R&D. New York and Geneva: United Nation.
- Wang, M. (2009). Manufacturing FDI and economic growth: evidence from Asian economies. *Applied Economics*, 41 (8), 991-1002.
- Wei, S. J. (2000). How taxing is corruption on international investors?. Review of economics and statistics, 82 (1), 1-11.
- Wheeler, D., & Mody, A. (1992). International investment location decisions:

  The case of US firms. *Journal of international economics*, 33 (1-2),

  57-76.
- World Bank, (1996). Global economic Prospects. Washington D.C.
- Yabuuchi, S. (1999). Foreign direct investment, urban unemployment and welfare. *Journal of International Trade & Economic Development*, 8, 359-371.
- Yavari, K. & Behzad S. (2006). "economic growth in countries possessing natural resources (Case Study: OPEC), Trade Research Quarterly, No. 37, winter

## © University of Cape Coast https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui

Zhang, K. H. (2001b). Promoting exports: the role of inward FDI in China. *China Economic Review*, 11 (4), 385-396.

Zhang, K. H. (2005). How does FDI affect a host country's export performance? The case of China. International conference of WTO, China and the Asian Economies, 2005. 25-26.

